THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN C. THOM, III, as personal representative of the Estate of Charles Vincent McAdam, Sr., decedent,

Petitioner,

vs.

SYBIL MCADAM,

Respondent.

APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

TERRY S. BIENSTOCK / Florida Bar No. 259/160 HECTOR R. RIVERA Florida Bar No. 882453 Bienstock & Clark 200 S. Biscayne Boulevard Suite 3160 Miami, FL 33131 (305) 373-1100

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent, Sybil McAdam ("Mrs. McAdam"), appealed a partial summary judgment as to liability granted in favor of the Estate of Charles V. McAdam, Sr. ("Mr. McAdam, Sr.") in an action brought by Mr. John C. Thom, III, as personal representative for the Estate, alleging civil theft, common law conversion, and fraud. In this partial summary judgment, the trial court ruled that Mrs. McAdam was collaterally estopped from denying the findings of fact which established undue influence in an earlier conversion action brought against her by the It also ruled that the defense of children of Mr. McAdam, Sr. interspousal immunity was legally inadequate. The District Court of Appeal, Third District, reversed the trial court with instructions that summary judgment be entered in favor of Mrs. McAdam on the basis that the present action was barred by interspousal immunity. This Court granted review of the decision of the third district due to that decision's express and direct conflict with decisions of this Court and a decision of another district court of appeal in this state.

### **II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**<sup>1</sup>

In 1978, at age 85, Mr. McAdam, Sr., placed most of his assets into a trust. A. 73,  $\P$  4-5; A. 52,  $\P$  2; A. 183-195. Under the trust terms, Mr. McAdam, Sr. received all trust income and was entitled to receive distributions of trust corpus. A. 73,  $\P$  4; A. 52,  $\P$  2; A. 184-85. Mr. McAdam, Sr. named his son, Charles V. McAdam, Jr. ("Mr. McAdam, Jr."), as trustee. Id. As beneficiaries of the trust remainder, he named his two daughters, Lois Cook and Patricia Thom, and their children (collectively the "remaindermen"). A. 72-73,  $\P$  1 and 4, respectively; A. 52,  $\P$  1-2.

Also in 1978, Mr. McAdam, Sr. executed a will bequeathing his entire estate to his two daughters. A. 72,  $\P$  3. Nonetheless, prior to his marriage to Mrs. McAdam, Mr. McAdam, Sr. formed the intention to bequeath his stock in the McNaught Syndicate to his son. <u>Id</u>. at  $\P$  2.

By 1979, Mr. McAdam, Sr., now age 86, was frail, in poor physical and mental health, and was despondent and lonely due to a pending divorce. A. 73,  $\P$  5; A. 52,  $\P$  4. At this time, he maintained a close relationship with his family, one characterized by love, affection, and frequent conversations and visits. A. 72,  $\P$  1; A. 53,  $\P$  6; A. 56,  $\P$  17.

Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s loving relationship with his family changed dramatically after June 15, 1979. A. 72,  $\P$  1; see A. 53,  $\P$  6. On that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Unless otherwise noted, all references to the record are to the Appendix to Brief of Appellant below, Sybil McAdam (Respondent before this Court), and shall be referred to by the designation "A." followed by the page number and, where appropriate, the paragraph number. For example, "A. 73, ¶ 4" refers to Appendix of Appellant below at page 73, paragraph number 4.

date, Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s divorce from his second wife became final, and he married Mrs. McAdam. A. 73,  $\P$  6; A. 52,  $\P$  5. He was pressured and rushed into marrying Mrs. McAdam after 10:00 p.m., after an hour-long high-pressure meeting at the office of Mrs. McAdam's attorney. A. 73,  $\P$ 6. The meeting was designed to force Mr. McAdam, Sr., while tired and hungry, to sign a prenuptial agreement purporting to give Mrs. McAdam a claim to Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s house, <u>Id</u>., A. 74,  $\P$  7, A. 52,  $\P$  4, even though the house was jointly owned by Mr. McAdam, Sr. and his second wife. A. 82,  $\P$  11b. Otherwise, the prenuptial agreement provides that Mrs. McAdam would have no claim on Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s property. A. 74,  $\P$ 7; A. 52,  $\P$  4.

Throughout their marriage, Mrs. McAdam was in a position to and did exert undue influence over Mr. McAdam, Sr. A. 77-80, ¶ 10a-10e (particularly ¶ 10c); A. 80-88, ¶ 11a-11b; A. 89, ¶ 15; A. 56, ¶ 17; A. 57-58, ¶ 21 and 24, respectively. Mrs. McAdam was twenty-six years younger than Mr. McAdam, Sr. A. 77, ¶ 10a. Mr. McAdam, Sr. suffered from senile dementia and a lack of competency throughout the marriage, and these conditions became progressively worse. A. 74, ¶ 9a; A. 76, ¶ 9e. As a result of his advanced age, poor medical and mental condition, dependency on prescription drugs, inability to care for himself, isolation, and close association with Mrs. McAdam, Mr. McAdam, Sr. became completely dependent upon Mrs. McAdam and was easily influenced and controlled by her during the marriage. A. 77, ¶ 10a-10b; A. 80, ¶ 10e; A. 89, ¶ 15; A. 53, ¶ 7-9; A. 57, ¶ 21. Mrs. McAdam took advantage of this situation to exert undue influence over Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s

- 3 -

financial affairs in order to obtain personal benefit for herself. A. 77-88,  $\P$  10a-10e and 11a-11d; A. 53-54,  $\P$  10; A. 55-56,  $\P$  15 and 19; A. 57,  $\P$  21.

The first element of Mrs. McAdam's scheme to obtain Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s wealth was her isolation of Mr. McAdam, Sr. from his family. A. 80,  $\P$  11a; A. 53,  $\P$  10. Mrs. McAdam would prevent Mr. McAdam, Sr. from speaking with his children and grandchildren, despite their numerous attempts to contact him by telephone. A. 79; A. 80-81,  $\P$  11a. Mrs. McAdam would prevent Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s children and grandchildren from entering the house to visit Mr. McAdam, Sr. <u>Id</u>. At one point, Mrs. McAdam ordered one of Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s nurses not to answer the phone in order to prevent his children from trying to reach him. A. 79. Mrs. McAdam also isolated Mr. McAdam, Sr. from his friends and neighbors, and terminated the services of his long-time lawyer and doctor. A. 77,  $\P$ 10a; A. 80-82,  $\P$  11a.

Mrs. McAdam intensified Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s isolation from his family by poisoning his mind against them. A. 78,  $\P$  10c; A. 79,  $\P$  10e; A. 53,  $\P$  10. She constantly made derogatory remarks about his children and family members, told him his children only cared for his money, and referred to his family members as evil. <u>Id</u>.

The second element of Mrs. McAdam's scheme involved her exercise of undue influence over Mr. McAdam, Sr. to obtain his personal non-trust assets, including cash and bank accounts, certificates of deposits, the marital home, and the Mcnaught Syndicate stock. A. 77,  $\P$  10; A. 82,  $\P$  11b; A. 54-56,  $\P$  13-14 and 18. She used her undue influence to: (1)

- 4 -

force Mr. McAdam, Sr. to agree to open a joint checking account; (2) transfer all of the money in Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s personal accounts to their joint accounts; and (3) cash in Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s certificates of deposits and place the proceeds into the joint accounts. A. 82, ¶ 11b. She then intentionally depleted the joint accounts through lavish personal spending on herself and her own family members. Id.; A. 55, ¶ 14; A. 56, ¶ 19. To give a false appearance of legitimacy to the spending, she would write checks and force Mr. McAdam, Sr. to sign them, through cajolery and even physical abuse. Id.; A. 79, ¶ 10e. A large number of Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s checks benefited Mrs. McAdam personally. A. 82, ¶ 11b.

As a result of Mrs. McAdam's spending, Mr. McAdam, Sr. was personally destitute within a year. <u>Id</u>.; A. 55, ¶ 14. During that first year, Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s expenses were \$123,600.00 in excess of what his expenditures would have been if they had continued at his prior level. <u>Id</u>.

Immediately after the dissipation of Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s personal funds, Mrs. McAdam caused the marital home to be sold in order to satisfy an alimony judgment to Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s second wife, A. 82,  $\P$  11b, despite the fact that Mr. McAdam, Jr. offered to give \$218,000.00 to his father's former wife in settlement of the divorce. A. 84-85,  $\P$  11c; A. 54,  $\P$  11. Mrs. McAdam caused Mr. McAdam, Sr. to reject this and other offers of financial assistance from his children, which were contrary to the assistance Mr. McAdam, Sr. allowed before the marriage. Id.; A. 54,  $\P$  12.

Upon depletion of Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s personal funds, Mrs. McAdam embarked upon the third element of her scheme, her attempt to break the trust established by Mr. McAdam, Sr. A. 83-86, ¶ 11c; A. 54-55, ¶ 13. She declared this intention on one occasion in November 1979 when Mr. McAdam, Jr., was visiting his father. A. 84, Para. 11c. Mrs. McAdam stated that she would break the trust, id., and told Mr. McAdam, Sr. that he could have all the hugs and kisses he wanted when he obtained all of his money from the control of his children. A. 79, ¶ 10e. She wrongfully and fraudulently induced Mr. McAdam, Sr., by persuasion and intimidation, to unreasonably attempt to invade the trust in order for her to obtain the trust assets. A. 84, ¶ 11c; A. 53, ¶ 10.

Breaking the trust was an essential element in Mrs. McAdam's scheme to obtain control over Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s assets. Under the trust terms, the trust income went to Mr. McAdam, Sr. during his lifetime. A. 73, ¶ 4; A. 52, ¶ 2; A. 184-85. Upon Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s death, the trust assets went to Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s children and to other remaindermen. A. 73, ¶ 4; A.52, ¶ 1-2; A. 184-86. However, the trust corpus could be invaded during Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s lifetime, if necessary, for the maintenance of Mr. McAdam, Sr., but only upon the exercise of discretion vested in the trustee who served at the pleasure of the settlor, Mr. McAdam, Sr. A. 183 and 185.

Mrs. McAdam executed a carefully designed plan to obtain the trust corpus. After she depleted his personal assets, Mrs. McAdam used her undue influence over Mr. McAdam, Sr. to persuade him to request major invasions of trust principal, including \$470,000, to purchase a

condominium residence. A. 84; A. 54,  $\P$  13. She also caused Mr. McAdam, Sr. to barrage his son, the trustee, with letters demanding substantial other invasions of trust principal. <u>Id</u>. Mr. McAdam, Jr., realizing that such trust invasions would leave his father without sufficient trust income to live on, refused these demands to invade the trust principal. <u>Id</u>. Mrs. McAdam then convinced Mr. McAdam, Sr. to remove his son, Mr. McAdam, Jr., as trustee. <u>Id</u>. As a result, Mr. McAdam, Jr. sued his father in an attempt to prevent his removal as trustee, but was eventually removed by the court without cause. A. 84.

Once Mr. McAdam, Jr. was removed by the court, Mrs. McAdam caused Mr. McAdam, Sr. to repeatedly petition the court to approve substantial invasions of the trust corpus, most prominently a \$422,500.00 request for funds to purchase a condominium with furnishings. A. 85; A. 54, ¶ 13; A. 56, ¶ 19. On another occasion, Mrs. McAdam caused Mr. McAdam, Sr. to petition the court for the payment of substantial capital gains taxes which would have been incurred as a result of a planned program to reinvest all trust assets to generate higher yield. A. 85-86; A. 55, ¶ 13; A. 56, ¶ 19. Each of these attempts was successfully challenged by Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s daughters on the basis that the invasions would have left their father without sufficient income upon which to live. <u>Id</u>.

Mrs. McAdam also caused Mr. McAdam, Sr. to default on his alimony payments to his former wife. A. 85; A. 55, ¶ 13. Because he was personally impoverished by Mrs. McAdam's spending, Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s former wife sued Mr. McAdam, Sr. to invalidate a portion of the trust sufficient to satisfy her claim for \$38,000.00 in back alimony payments

plus legal fees. <u>Id</u>. Mrs. McAdam, however, caused Mr. McAdam, Sr. to take a default, thus "admitting" that the entire trust was a fraudulent conveyance so that the trust assets of almost \$1 million dollars would revert to Mr. McAdam, Sr. and, thereby, under the control of Mrs. McAdam. <u>Id</u>.

As a result of Mrs. McAdam's actions, the trust principal was reduced by the payment of alimony to Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s second wife. A. 85. The trust principal was also reduced by over a half million dollars in legal fees resulting from the legal challenges Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s children had to bring to prevent Mrs. McAdam from asserting control over the trust assets and depleting the trust principal below the level at which the income could sustain Mr. McAdam, Sr. A. 85,  $\P$  11c; 54,  $\P$  13; A. 56,  $\P$  16; A. 58,  $\P$  23.

The fourth and final element of Mrs. McAdam's scheme was her exercise of undue influence over Mr. McAdam, Sr. to cause him to execute wills and codicils changing his testamentary dispositions to disinherit his children and to make Mrs. McAdam a substantial beneficiary of the will and a personal representative of the estate. A. 86-88, ¶ 11d.

# III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Prior Litigation

In 1981 the remaindermen of Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s trust, Lois Cook and Patricia Thom and their children, commenced an action against Mrs. McAdam for interference with their expectancy interest in the trust. A. 51-52. After the trial of that action in 1984, the trial court found that Mrs. McAdam exerted undue influence over Mr. McAdam, Sr. in order

to seek distributions from the trust corpus. Id.; A. 57,  $\P$  21; A. 58,  $\P$ 24. Mrs. McAdam elected not to testify, A. 51, and the remaindermen's evidence of undue influence was "unrebutted" by Mrs. McAdam. A. 57,  $\P$ 21. However, shortly after trial, the Florida Supreme Court did away with the remaindermen's cause of action. <u>See Florida National Bank v.</u> <u>Genova</u>, 460 So. 2d 895 (Fla. 1984). As a result, the trial judge felt compelled to vacate the final judgment in favor of the remaindermen on purely legal grounds and a final judgment was entered in favor of Mrs. McAdam. A. 67-68. In so doing the trial judge expressly reaffirmed and did not recede from his factual findings. <u>Id</u>. The judgment in her favor was later affirmed in <u>Cook v. McAdam</u>, 479 So. 2d 156 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). Mrs. McAdam never questioned or cross-appealed the trial court's factual findings.

After Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s death, his wills and codicils, which made Mrs. McAdam a substantial beneficiary and one of several personal representatives of his estate, were challenged by Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s children. A. 71-90. In August, 1987 after a lengthy and fully litigated trial in which Mrs. McAdam testified and was personally represented by counsel, the court invalidated and revoked those wills and codicils. <u>Id</u>. In so doing, the court found that those testamentary instruments and all of Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s personal assets had been obtained by Mrs. McAdam through undue influence over Mr. McAdam, Sr. and his lack of capacity throughout their marriage. A. 77-88,  $\P$  10-11; A. 89,  $\P$  15. Mrs. McAdam did not appeal those factual or legal findings.

- 9 -

# Current Litigation

The current action was brought by Petitioner, Mr. Thom, as personal representative of Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s estate, to recover those assets of Mr. McAdam, Sr. which Mrs. McAdam took through fraud, conversion, and civil theft during their marriage. Asserting that Mrs. McAdam is collaterally estopped from denying the factual findings made in the prior trust and probate proceedings<sup>2</sup> concerning Mrs. McAdam's actions, Mr. Thom moved for summary judgment on all counts. A. 34-90. Mrs. McAdam also moved for summary judgment on all claims, alleging, among other defenses, the affirmative defense of interspousal immunity. A. 91-93.

On December 18, 1991 the trial court entered an order which adopted as collateral estoppel against Mrs. McAdam factual findings made in the remaindermen's trust litigation, and thus granted summary judgment on the issue of liability in favor of Mr. Thom as the personal representative. A. 1-2. In so doing, the trial court found that \$521,513.00, which originally belonged to the trust, "became Estate assets due to [Mrs. McAdam's] own actions causing the Trust to distribute those assets." <u>Id</u>. at 1. The trial court also ruled that Mrs. McAdam's affirmative defenses, including interspousal immunity. were legally insufficient, and denied Mrs. McAdam's motion for summary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The findings made in the probate litigation, which judgment still stands, are substantially the same as and in many instances even more detailed than the findings made in the vacated judgment from the earlier trust litigation. Compare A. 51-59, ¶ 2, 4-10, 13, 15-16, 19 with A. 71-89, ¶ 1, 4-6, 10(A) - (E), 11(A) - (C), 14-15.

judgment. Id. at 2.

The Court of Appeals, Third District, reversed and remanded for entry of summary judgment in Mrs. McAdam's favor, ruling that "under the doctrine of interspousal immunity, Mrs. McAdam is not liable for conversion of Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s property during the marriage." <u>McAdam v.</u> <u>Thom</u>, 610 So.2d 510, 512 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (per curiam). The court held this despite the fact that Mr. McAdam, Sr. is now dead:

> This conclusion is not altered by the holding in <u>Sturiano v. Brooks</u>, 523 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 1988), which abrogated the doctrine of interspousal immunity to the limited extent of liability insurance where traditional policy consideration for maintaining the doctrine did not exist. The fact that McAdam, Sr. is now deceased does not alone create a cause of action where one did not exist during his lifetime. 610 So.2d at 512.

The Third District also reversed the trial court's finding of collateral estoppel, ruling that the factual determinations of the remaindermen's trust litigation could not be collateral estoppel after the judgment based upon those findings were vacated. <u>Id</u>. However, in making this determination, the Third District failed to address whether the factual determinations in the valid judgment entered in the probate proceedings were a sufficient alternative basis for affirming the trial court's rulings on collateral estoppel, <u>see generally McAdam v. Thom</u>, <u>supra</u>, despite the fact that Mr. Thom presented the probate findings as an alternate basis for granting summary judgment as to liability to the trial court and as grounds for affirmance to the Third District. A. 34-90; <u>McAdam v. Thom</u>, 610 So.2d at 512.

After the Third District denied Petitioner's Motion for Rehearing,

Rehearing En Banc and/or Certification, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this case.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Very recently, in <u>Waite v. Waite</u>, 18 FLW S311 (Fla. May 27, 1993), this Court held that the doctrine of interspousal immunity is abrogated in Florida. This decision controls here and requires a reversal of the Third District decision.

Moreover, this Court's decision to abrogate the doctrine was correct. With the Woman's Emancipation Act, the doctrine of interspousal immunity was abolished to the extent of contractual and property claims between spouses. If promotion of domestic tranquility is insufficient to bar contractual and property actions between spouses, the policy of protecting domestic harmony is insufficient in matters of tort. The possibility of fraud or collusion exists in every case, but the judge and jury can assess such possibility.

This Court abrogated this doctrine in the areas of antenuptial torts, wrongful death actions, unlawful interception of electronic communications, and negligence. The legislature eliminated its application to assault and battery cases. An overwhelming majority of states abrogated this judicial doctrine and legal scholars repudiated it.

Even if this Court were not to completely abrogate this doctrine, the policy considerations justifying its application as still recognized in <u>Sturiano v. Brooks</u>, 523 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1988), do not exist here. Mr. McAdam, Sr. is dead, thereby terminating the application of

interspousal immunity. There can be no marital discord and fraud between spouses cannot occur. There is no liability insurance, therefore, no risk of collusion. The relationship between Mrs. McAdam and Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s grown stepchildren has long been adversarial due to her intentional wrongdoing, abuse of the marital relationship, and deliberate destruction of their relationship with their father. Protecting Mrs. McAdam's actions would not promote family unity or domestic tranquility.

In this case, the Third District confused the distinction between a "cause of action" and a "right of action" when it concluded that Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s death does not create a "cause of action where one did not exist during his lifetime." <u>McAdam v. Thom</u>, 610 So. at 512. A "cause of action" is comprised of operative facts which give rise to a "right of action." A "right of action" is a remedial right affording redress for the infringement of a legal right. Here, the estate's "cause of action" arose during Mr. McAdam, Sr.'s lifetime. Therefore, the estate may now assert its remedial "right of action." This Court has recognized this distinction in cases lifting the bar of interspousal immunity.

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