IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURTS

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 81,378

JOHN C. THOM, III,

Petitioner,

v.

SYBIL MCADAM,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert M. Sondak, Esq.
Sam Daniels, Esq.
PAUL, LANDY, BEILEY & HARPER, P.A.
Penthouse, Atico Financial Center
200 S.E. First Street
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 358-9300

Attorneys for Respondent Sybil McAdam

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal held below that: (a) the findings of fact of a vacated judgment have no preclusive effect in subsequent litigation; and (b) the doctrine of marital immunity bars this action. While this Court's opinion in Waite requires alteration of the second holding, the first ground of the opinion below remains intact, namely, that fact findings made in a vacated judgment have no res judicata or collateral estoppel effect. Accordingly, the Third District's reversal of the summary judgment on liability in favor of Petitioner should remain undisturbed, no matter what this Court holds on marital immunity.

This case presents other issues as well. In the trial court, Respondent also moved for summary judgment, based on several grounds, which the Third District did not reach because of its marital immunity holding. These alternative grounds are: (1) that Petitioner has no standing to sue; and (2) that the amended final judgment in Cook v. McAdam precludes this action. This Court may

now consider those issues or remand them to the Third District Court of Appeal.

The standing to sue issue is dispositive. All of the \$521,513 sought in this case was distributed from the McAdam Sr. Trust. The McAdam Sr. Trust instrument specifically provides that under no circumstances could any trust assets become assets of McAdam Sr.'s Consequently, the personal representative of the estate has no standing to sue to "recover" money wrongfully distributed from the Trust. As the record shows, funds were used to pay court awarded attorney's fees, taxes to the Internal Revenue Service, rent owed to the landlord of the McAdam apartment, medical bills, utilities, department stores, and other vendors of goods and If any of those payments were wrongful, the legal services. consequence is that the money should be "restored" to the McAdam This Plaintiff, however, has no standing to bring this Trust. action, and it should be dismissed.

More fundamentally, this action is barred, because the distributions in question were twice the subject of lawsuits by the McAdam children, and both times the court rejected claims that the distributions were wrongful. First, no distributions were made from the Trust until after the circuit court approved those distributions. From 1979-85, the court entered scores of orders authorizing these distributions, (A. 342-98) including all of the \$521,513 now challenged in this lawsuit.

The McAdam children then attempted to challenge the distributions a second time, in a separate action against

Respondent, <u>Cook v. McAdam</u>. That suit alleged that Sybil McAdam unduly influenced McAdam Sr. to seek funds from the McAdam trust, thereby reducing the trust corpus by the same \$521,513. That lawsuit claimed conversion, civil theft, and tortious interference with the McAdam children's vested expectancy interest in the Trust. Ultimately, that action was dismissed with prejudice, in an Amended Final Judgment which reiterated that:

"a trustee, upon the request of a settlor, notices an invasion of corpus pursuant to a trust agreement providing the trustee with discretion to invade corpus, and such invasions of corpus are made after court approval" (A. 60)

The findings in the Amended Final Judgment collaterally estop Petitioner from asserting the claims here. Additionally, the dismissal with prejudice constitutes a binding adjudication on the merits of those claims, and on principles of <u>res judicata</u> this case should be dismissed.

Assuming, however, that these defenses were not dispositive, there is a third reason for rejecting Petitioner's claims. The abrogation of marital immunity in this Court's <u>Waite</u> opinion does not resolve the tort issues raised by the complaint in this case. <u>Waite</u> dealt with severe personal injuries intentionally inflected by one spouse on the other. Nothing in that opinion addresses the question of when, if ever, one spouse can be guilty of converting the other spouse's funds. As the Third District correctly observed, this case involves accusations of conversion during the marriage. 610 So.2d at 511. In other states which have abolished the doctrine of marital immunity, courts have recognized that there

is a wide variety of conduct which, if engaged in between strangers, would be tortious, but if engaged in between spouses or other family members, creates no cause of action in tort. Some courts view the issue as one of either privilege, or consent. Other courts have suggested that the conduct between spouses is not tortious at all.

There are, of course, no cases in this state which have examined these issues other than in the context of the doctrine of marital immunity. With that doctrine abrogated, this Court may wish to begin the process of defining the parameters of property tort actions between spouses. It is submitted that McAdam, Sr. could not have sued Respondent to recover these expenses during his lifetime, and his death did not place his personal representative in any better position.

III.

ARGUMENT

For the reasons that follow, it is respectfully submitted that the Third District's Order should be affirmed. Admittedly, the Third District's decision as written cannot stand. Waite has now been decided. Be that as it may, the record still discloses a number of reasons why respondent was entitled to a summary judgment and why the Third District was completely correct in reversing the trial court's Summary Judgment on Liability.

We recognize that the Court may simply vacate and remand on the authority of <u>Waite</u>. However, since the Court has the power to decide the entire cause, we shall address all the remaining issues in this brief.³

A. Petitioner Lacks Standing To Seek Recovery of Trust Assets

Petitioner has no standing to sue in this case because the \$521,513 he seeks to recover was money belonging to the McAdam Trust. These monies were disbursed directly from the Trust to pay rent, court ordered attorneys fees, taxes due to the Internal Revenue Service, and various vendors of goods and services. A. 97-98, 197-224, 726). If, as petitioner contended below, those payments were improperly disbursed from the trust, only the trustee could seek their recovery. The money never became an asset of the decedent's estate, and therefore petitioner, the personal representative of the Estate, could not sue for its recovery.4 Respondent could not have converted funds from her husband which her husband never received or possessed. Only the Trustee of the McAdam Trust, the deceased husband's and not personal representative, could seek recovery of the funds. This is not a distinction without a difference because the trustee, the Southeast Bank, N.A., actually sued to recover these funds from respondent. However, the trustee allowed its suit to be dismissed for want of prosecution. (A. 528)

³E.g., Zirin v. Charles Pfizer & Co., 128 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1961).

⁴ As the Court will recall, the Trust expressly provided that its assets could never become assets of the decedent trustor's estate. (A. 184)

In holding that the personal representative had standing, the trial court made a finding of fact that the money, "while originally assets belonging to the . . . Trust, became estate assets due to Defendant's own actions causing the Trust to distribute those assets." (A.1) It was, of course, improper to make a finding on disputed facts on a Summary Judgment Motion. The facts in the record show that money was paid from the Trust directly to vendors of goods and services, as well as to the IRS and for rent, and never came into McAdam Sr.'s possession.

Faced with this obvious error in the trial court's Order, Petitioner tries to fill the void by calling respondent "evil" as often as possible, and denouncing her effort to "disprove her guilt" for a "third" time. This sort of emotional appeal is not a substitute for reasoned argument. As a matter of law and fact, the petitioner has no standing to sue.

B. <u>Preclusive Effect of Prior Litigation Bars Petitioner's Claim Rather Than Respondent's Defense</u>

In <u>Cook v. McAdam</u>, <u>supra</u>, Judge Turner first found the facts and ruled against respondent. Then, on rehearing, he ruled for respondent in an Amended Final Judgment stating:

Upon rehearing of this cause, the Court finds that when, as here, a Trustee, upon the request of a Settlor, notices an invasion of corpus pursuant to a Trust Agreement providing the Trustee with discretion to invade corpus, and such invasions of corpus are made after

It is interesting to note that the trial court's order is internally inconsistent since one of the findings which the trial court incorporated from <u>Cook v. McAdam</u> specifically was that the \$521,513 at issue here was money belonging to the Trust, and not to McAdam Sr. (A. 56,58)

Court approval, the concept of undue influence does not apply. <u>See Florida National Bank of Palm Beach County v. Genova</u>, 9 FLW 466 (Fla. 1984).

It is thereupon ordered and adjudged that:

- 1. The final judgment heretofore entered by this court on September 4, 1984 is set aside and held for naught.
- 2. Plaintiffs' Complaint be and the same is hereby dismissed, with prejudice, at the cost of Plaintiffs. (A. 60).

The above judgment was affirmed by the Third District in the decision reported at 479 So. 2d 156.

As Judge Turner correctly found, each and every distribution from the Trust here contested was court approved in litigation involving McAdam Sr., his trustee, and the McAdam children. In every instance, Judge Silver approved the distribution. Those rulings were incorporated into Judge Turner's Amended Final Judgment. They collaterally estop any claim here.

Judge Turner's Amended Final Judgment dismissing the complaint in Cook v. McAdam "with prejudice" is also binding here under principles of res judicata and precludes re-litigation of the same causes of action by the same parties. Gordon v. Gordon, 59 So.2d 40, 44 (Fla.), cert. denied, 344 U.S. 878 (1952). In the trial court, Petitioner conceded the identity of parties in Cook v. McAdam and this case. (A.41) The similarity of causes of action (conversion, fraud, and undue influence) is apparent and the assets in controversy, \$521,513, are the same. Under principles of res judicata, this action is barred.

There is no merit to petitioner's claim that the facts found in the original <u>Cook v. McAdam</u> judgment still bind respondent even though that judgment was vacated. As the Third District correctly held below:

We conclude that the factual determinations of the earlier action are in no way controlling as to the instant dispute. Clearly, where a judgment is vacated or set aside, it is as though no judgment had ever been entered. Shields v. Flinn, 528 So. 2d 967, 968 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). Thus, factual determinations made prior to dismissal of the earlier conversion action could have no preclusive effect in the Those findings were a nullity instant case. once the judge set aside his original order. They were totally unnecessary and irrelevant to the final judgment which relied in total on utilized and could not be Genova, collaterally estop Ms. McAdam. <u>See Adelhelm</u> v. Dougherty, 129 Fla. 680, 176 So. 2d 775, 777 (1937); Zwakhals v. Senft, 206 So. 2d 62 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968). 610 So.2d at 512.

Accord: Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 27 cmt. h (1982).

Equally devoid of merit is petitioner's claim that respondent should have appealed from Judge Turner's prior findings. Respondent received a final judgment in her favor. It is axiomatic that one may not appeal from a favorable judgment. E.g., Morgan v. Morgan, 404 So. 2d 1101 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); Restatement (Second) of Judgments, § 28 (1982); R & S Partnership v. Martin Schaffel Enterprises, Inc., 529 So. 2d 794, 795 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

Findings in Will Contest Not Relevant Here

Petitioner asks this Court to determine that findings made in a separate lawsuit, <u>In Re: Estate of Charles Vincent McAdam</u>, Case No. 87-1371 (Dade County Circuit Court) in which Judge Featherstone revoked probate of a will executed by McAdam Sr. during his marriage to respondent, collaterally estop her in this case. The holding of the Featherstone case was that the will was the product of undue influence. There are at least three reasons why neither the trial court nor the Third District utilized Judge Featherstone's ruling as collateral estoppel in this case.

First, in the trial court, petitioner specifically and unequivocally renounced any contention that Judge Featherstone's ruling had any preclusive effect. At the hearing on the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (A. 751-88) petitioner's counsel specifically advised that he was only relying on Judge Turner's findings, and that if they were not binding, Summary Judgment would be inappropriate:

And our argument on summary judgment is with this finding by Judge Turner, his finding of fact that that should be collateral estoppel as to that \$521,000, that's simply our argument.

If we're wrong, Judge, then <u>I concede</u> they've raised the question of fact that a jury or the court will have to eventually decide on how much the estate has been damaged. There are issues of fact. We are relying <u>solely</u> upon Judge Turner's finding of fact on that \$521,000. (A. 758)

Also see A.753 in which counsel reiterated the same admission. As the transcript makes clear, this concession was a calculated decision by counsel to enhance his changes of prevailing on liability and damages. (A. 753-55) It is hardly appropriate after making such a concession, to ask this Court to conclude the contrary.

Second, in the will contest, Judge Featherstone made no findings that respondent converted any or all of the \$521,000 sought in this case. The nineteen pages of findings drafted by counsel and signed by the court (A. 71-89) are broad, general, and gratuitous, but do not cover the issues raised here. In order to be binding in later litigation, findings of fact must be "essential to the judgment." See Restatement (Second) of Judgments § 27 (1982):

When an issue of fact or law is actually litigated and determined by a valid and final judgment, and the determination is essential to the judgment, the determination is conclusive in a subsequent action between the parties, whether on the same or a different claim.

See also Moore v. Musa, 198 So.2d 843, 846 (Fla. 1967); Shearson Hayden Stone, Inc. v. Seymour, 356 So.2d 834, 836 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). Any findings of conversion of trust assets in the will contest would obviously not be "essential" to a judgment as to the validity of the will, but rather would be extraneous to that inquiry. Such irrelevant findings could not be collateral estoppel in this case.

Third, as we successfully urged below, an examination of the will contest shows that the normal requirements of collateral estoppel are not met here. The parties are different. Thom was not a party at all, and the MidAtlantic National Bank, the named

⁶ Contrary to the suggestions in Petitioner's brief (at 5), there is nothing about either "joint accounts" or "lavish personal spending" in the findings of fact at issue.

personal representative in the later will, had offered it for probate.

C. Even With Immunity Gone, There Still Was No Tort

This Court's <u>Waite</u> opinion abolishes marital immunity in the context of a personal injury suit between spouses where one spouse almost killed the other. Nothing in either the majority opinion or Justice Harding's concurring opinion addresses an interspousal suit for purely economic loss with no accompanying physical injury. The concurring and dissenting opinion of Justice Grimes expresses fears of the "spate of lawsuits between spouses covering a wide range of torts, including defamation, conversion, fraud and property damage, and perhaps more creatively the negligent infliction of a disease, such as AIDS." The concurring opinion of Justice McDonald expresses concern as to the "unfettered ability of one spouse to sue the other"

In states which have abolished interspousal immunity, courts are still prohibiting claims such as those made against respondent in this case. The fundamental issue, not considered below by the Third District, is whether a tort has been committed at all. Conduct between members of a family is, necessarily, judged differently than conduct between those who are not related by blood or marriage or do not live in the same home. This concept is expressly recognized in the Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 895F ("Husband and Wife") which states, in pertinent part:

(2) Repudiation of general tort immunity does not establish liability for an act or omission that, because of the marital relationship, is otherwise privileged or is not tortious. In agreement is W. Page Keeton, et al., <u>Prosser and Keeton on</u>

The Law of Torts §122 at 910 (5th Ed. 1984), which states:

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